I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A. Assignment of Error

The superior court erred in entering its August 13, 2014 order

which denied Ms. Luvaas' s motion for summary judgment and granted

Respondent' s cross - motion for summary judgment. 

B. Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error

Whether the superior court erred in denying Ms. Luvaas' s motion

for summary judgment while granting Respondent' s cross - motion for

summary judgment when: in doing so failed to properly apply Washington

State contract law principles to the valid and legally binding employment

contract between Ms. Luvaas and the Department of Social and Health

Services ( DSHS); in doing so did not recognize that Ms. Luvaas was still

an employee of DSHS on the date of her industrial injury of July 29, 2011

considering that the valid and legally binding employment contract

between Ms. Luvaas and DSHS was still in effect; in doing so failed to

both liberally construe Title 51, to include RCW 51. 08. 178, and /or resolve

any doubts or questions regarding Title 51 in favor of the injured worker, 

Ms. Luvaas, as mandated by the legislature and required by statute and

case law; in doing so incorrectly applied RCW 51. 08. 178 to the facts of

this case; and, in doing so incorrectly found that Ms. Luvaas' s monthly
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wages from DSHS should not be included in the calculation of her

timeloss compensation rate. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

On July 29, 2011, Ms. Luvaas suffered an industrial injury after

working at one of her two jobs, Out On A Limb Landscaping. See Board

Transcript at 8-
91. 

Besides her part time job at Out On A Limb Landscaping, Ms. 

Luvaas worked full time for DSHS as a Care Provider. See id. at 12. To

become a Care Provider with DSHS, Ms. Luvaas entered into an

employment contract with DSHS, titled " Client Service Contract, 

Individual Provider." See Board Exhibit 2. Per the employment contract, 

Ms. Luvaas was to begin work as a Care Provider on July 1, 2009 and end

on June 30, 2012. See id. The employment contract contained terms and

conditions, which included requirements for modifying the contract, 

Unfortunately, only a fraction of the Clerk' s Papers were independently numbered by
the Clallam County Superior Court. Documents submitted by the parties at the superior
court level are numbered in the bottom right hand corner and number 2 through 49, and
are referenced in Appellant' s Briefing as " Sup.Ct.Rec. ". Following this section, records
are Bates stamped 1 through 185, and is referenced in Appellant' s Briefing as " CP ". 

Following this section is the Board' s Hearing Transcript which numbers 1 through 87, 
and will be referenced as " Board Transcript" in Appellant' s Briefing. Following this

section are exhibits that were admitted during the Board Hearing and number 1 through
6, and will be referenced as " Board Exhibits" in Appellant' s Briefing. 
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terminating the contract, and waiving any supposed breaches of the

contract. See id. 

On July 5, 2011, Ms. Luvaas informed DSHS in writing of her

intent to terminate the existing employment relationship between herself

and DSHS. See Board Exhibit 3. Such termination for convenience

required at least 30 days' written notice. See Board Exhibit 2. This

written note from Ms. Luvaas to DSHS was received by DSHS on July 8, 

2011. See Board Exhibit 3. In authoring this note, Ms. Luvaas took into

consideration the days that she regularly did not work, which were

weekends, and a weekend abutted the end of July immediately prior to

switching over to August. See id.; see Board Transcript at 42 -43, 47. 

Ms. Luvaas was compensated by DSHS for the entire month of

July 2011. See Board Exhibit 4, 5. DSHS made payment to Ms. Luvaas

for the month of July 2011 on August 3, 2011. See Board Exhibit 4. 

B. Procedural Background

Ms. Luvaas filed an application for benefits with the Department

of Labor & Industries ( Respondent) on or about December 7, 2011 due to

the industrial injury she suffered on July 29, 2011. CP 31, 149. On May

4, 2012, the Department issued an order setting the "[ w] age for job of

injury based on monthly salary of $447. 12." CP 22 -23, 31. Ms. Luvaas

filed a timely protest of the May 4, 2012 order with the Department on
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May 16, 2012. CP 31. In response, the Department issued an order on

May 21, 2012 which affirmed the May 4, 2012 wage order. CP 24, 31. 

Ms. Luvaas filed a timely appeal to the May 21, 2012 affirm order on June

21, 2012 based on the premise, inter alia, that her monthly wages from

DSHS were not considered when calculating her timeloss compensation

rate. CP 25. Ms. Luvaas' s appeal was granted for consideration by the

Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals ( Board) on July 19, 2012. CP 30- 

31. Following hearings at the Board, the Industrial Appeals Judge issued a

Proposed Decision and Order ( PD &O) on August 9, 2013 which

ultimately affirmed the Department' s wage order of May 4, 2012. CP 11- 

20. Ms. Luvaas filed a timely Petition for Review ( PFR) of the PD &O on

September 5, 2013. CP 2 -6. Ms. Luvaas' s PFR was subsequently denied

by the Board on September 26, 2013 which in turn made the PD &O a final

decision and order of the Board. CP 1. In response, Ms. Luvaas filed a

timely appeal to Clallam County Superior Court on October 16, 2013. 

Sup. Ct.Rec. 46 -47. Ms. Luvaas filed a motion for summary judgment

with the superior court on May 15, 2014. Sup.Ct.Rec. 34 -45. Respondent

submitted responsive briefing to the superior court, along with a cross - 

motion for summary judgment of their own, on June 6, 2014. Sup.Ct. 

Rec. 26 -33. Ms. Luvaas submitted responsive briefing to the superior

court on July 11, 2014. Sup. Ct. Rec. 18 -25. Oral argument on the

4



competing motions for summary judgment was held at Clallam County

Superior Court on the morning of August 8, 2014. Sup. Ct.Rec. 13. On

August 13, 2014, the superior court denied Ms. Luvaas' s motion for

summary judgment and granted Respondent' s cross - motion for summary

judgment which ultimately affirmed the Department' s wage order of May

4, 2012. Sup. Ct.Rec. 13 - 17. Ms. Luvaas submitted a Notice of Appeal to

Court of Appeals on September 11, 2014, which was timely filed on

September 12, 2014. Sup.Ct.Rec. 5 -6. Ms. Luvaas filed the Designation

of Clerk' s Papers by the required deadline and further notified the Court

that no Statement of Arrangements would be filed. 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it granted Respondent' s motion for

summary judgment and denied Ms. Luvaas' s motion for summary

judgment. Ms. Luvaas does not contend that there are genuine issues of

material fact that bar a summary judgment determination. Ms. Luvaas

contends that she, not Respondent, is entitled to judgment as a matter of

law. 

Ms. Luvaas and DSHS entered into a valid and legally binding

employment contract that was in effect on the date of her industrial injury

of July 29, 2011. Based on the objective manifestations of the contract, 
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which is the prescribed contract law theory in Washington State, Ms. 

Luvaas was still considered an employee of DSHS on the date of her

industrial injury of July 29, 2011. In addition, Ms. Luvaas was actually

paid for the entire month of July 2011 and DSHS issued this payment on

August 3, 2011. Therefore, the monthly wages from all employment, to

include her job of injury as well as DSHS, should be included in the

calculation of her timeloss compensation rate. 

Aside from the reasoning above, RCW 51. 08. 178( 1) states in

pertinent part that: " the monthly wages the worker was receiving from all

employment at the time of injury shall be the basis upon which

compensation is computed...." This phrase in the statute is clear and

unambiguous. The legislature' s mandate and intent with Title 51, the

Industrial Insurance Act, is that it be liberally construed with any doubts

being decided in favor of the injured worker, Ms. Luvaas. Based on the

plain meaning of RCW 51. 08. 178( 1), the monthly wages of all of Ms. 

Luvaas' s employment should be used to calculate her timeloss

compensation rate. Therefore, the monthly wages from both the job of

injury and DSHS need to be considered. 
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IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard for Review. 

A party may appeal as a matter of right any superior court order

affecting a substantial right in a civil case that in effect determines the

action and prevents a final judgment or discontinues the action." See

Wash. R. App. P. 2. 2. 

Judicial review of matters arising under Title 51, the Industrial

Insurance Act, are governed by RCW 51. 52. 110 and RCW 51. 52. 115. See

Wash. Rev. Code Ann. §§ 51. 52. 110, 51. 52. 115 ( West 2014). Judicial

review at the superior court level is de novo and is based solely on the

evidence that was on the record before the Board. See id. Superior court

orders granting summary judgment are reviewed de novo, and the court of

appeals " engag[ es] in the same inquiry as the trial court." Schmitt v. 

Langenour, 162 Wash. App. 397, 404, 256 P. 3d 1235, 1239 ( Div. II 2011) 

citing Kahn v. Salerno, 90 Wash. App. 110, 117, 951 P. 2d 321 ( Div. I

1998)). 

Summary judgment is appropriate " if the pleadings, depositions, 

answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the

affidavits ... show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact, 

and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." 

Wash. Super. Ct. Civ. R. CR 56( c); see Wilson v. City of Seattle, 146
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Wash. App. 737, 194 P. 3d 997 ( Div. I 1989). The facts and all reasonable

inferences from those facts must be considered in the light most favorable

to the nonmoving party. Id. 

The moving party bears the initial burden of showing the absence

of an issue of material fact. Young v. Key Pharm., Inc., 112 Wash.2d 216, 

255, 770 P. 2d 182 ( 1989). The nonmoving party may not rely on

speculation or argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues

remain. Marshall v. Bally' s Pacwest, Inc., 94 Wash. App. 372, 377, 972

P. 2d 475 ( Div. II 1999). In responding to a summary judgment, the

nonmoving party' s opposition must be based on, inter alia, personal

knowledge and shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in

evidence. See Blomster v. Nordstrom, 103 Wash. App. 252, 259 -60, 11

P. 3d 883 ( Div. I 2000); see Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wash. App. 306, 319 -20, 

945 P. 2d 921 ( Div. II 1998) ( citing CR 56( e); McKee v. American Home

Products Corp., 113 Wash.2d 701, 782 P. 2d 1045 ( 1989); Doe v. Puget

Sound Blood Ctr., 117 Wash.2d 772, 819 P. 2d 370 ( 1991)). No

consideration should be accorded to opposition that is not made on

personal knowledge. See Loss v. DeBord, 67 Wash.2d 318, 321, 407 P. 2d

421 ( 1965); see State v. Evans Campaign Committee, 86 Wash.2d 503, 

506, 546 P. 2d 75 ( 1976). 
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Ms. Luvaas is of the position that there are no genuine issues of

material fact in this matter. This position is promoted by the fact that both

parties filed motions for summary judgment at the trial court level. Based

on the following, Ms. Luvaas is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 

Statutory construction issues are reviewed de novo by the court of

appeals. Dellen Wood Products, Inc. v. Dep' t of Labor & Indus., 179

Wash. App. 601, 615, 319 P. 3d 847, review denied, 180 Wash.2d 1023, 

328 P. 3d 902 ( Div. II 2014) ( citing Cockle v. Dep' t of Labor & Indus., 142

Wash.2d 801, 807, 16 P. 3d 583 ( 2001)). 

B. Ms. Luvaas and DSHS entered into a valid and legally binding
employment contract that was still in effect on the date of her

industrial injury of July 29, 2011 and therefore her monthly
wages from her employment with DSHS should be considered

in the calculation of her timeloss compensation rate. 

Contract law principles apply to and govern employment contracts. 

See Nye v. University of Washington, 163 Wash. App. 875, 882 -83, 260

P. 3d 1000, 271 Ed. Law Rep. 1116, 18 Wage & Hour Cas. 2d ( BNA) 356

Div. 1 2011), review denied, 173 Wash. 2d 1018, 272 P. 3d 247 ( 2012). 

The law of contracts is the same whether the parties are two publishing

giants fighting for market control or two individuals disputing the cost of

appliance repair work." Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 154

Wash. 2d 493, 495, 115 P. 3d 262 ( 2005). Washington State Courts adhere

to the objective manifestation theory of contracts. Id. at 503. 
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By following this particular contract theory, the courts " attempt to

determine the parties' intent by focusing on the objective manifestations of

the agreement, rather than on the unexpressed subjective intent of the

parties." Id. ( citing Max L. Wells Trust v. Grand Cent. Sauna & Hot Tub

Co. of Seattle, 62 Wash. App. 593, 602, 815 P. 2d 284 ( Div. I 1991). "[ A] 

court must interpret [ a contract] according to the intent of the parties as

manifested by the words used in the contract]." Wagner v. Wagner, 95

Wash.2d 94, 101, 621 P. 2d 1279 ( 1980) ( citing Patterson v. Bixby, 58

Wash.2d 454, 458, 364 P. 2d 10 ( 1961)). Extrinsic evidence and the

subjective intent of the parties are not relevant when the terms and

conditions of the contract are clear from the actual words used in the

contract. See generally Hearst Commc' ns, 154 Wash. 2d at 493. 

In interpreting a contract, a court cannot disregard the language

used and contained therein, and cannot revise the contract under a theory

of interpretation. Wagner, 95 Wash. 2d at 101 ( comparing Farmers Ins. 

Co. v. Miller, 87 Wash.2d 70, 73, 549 P. 2d 9 ( 1976)). Courts interpret

what was written in a contract, not what was intended to be written. 

Hearst Commc' ns, 154 Wash.2d at 504 ( citing J. W. Seavey Hop Corp. of

Portland v. Pollock, 20 Wash.2d 337, 348 -49, 147 P. 2d 310 ( 1944), cited

with approval in Berg, 115 Wash.2d 657, 669, 801 P. 2d 222 ( 1990)). 
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In this current matter, objective manifestation of the agreement are

unmistakably ascertainable by reading the employment contract in its

entirety that was mutually agreed to and signed by Ms. Luvaas and an

authorized DSHS representative. Ms. Luvaas and DSHS entered into an

employment contract on June 25, 2009, with a start date of July 1, 2009

and an end date of June 30, 2012. See Board Exhibit 2. This employment

contract was a legally binding agreement between Ms. Luvaas and DSHS

that contained enforceable terms and conditions. See id. On page eight of

the agreement, there is a term and condition titled " Termination for

Convenience." See id. This particular term and condition addresses how

either Ms. Luvaas or DSHS can terminate the contract prior to the agreed

upon end date of June 30, 2012 should either party wish, and states in

pertinent part: 

The Contractor [ Ms. Luvaas] may terminate this Contract
for convenience by giving DSHS at least thirty ( 30) 

calendar days' written notice...." 

See id. This is the only place in the entire contract that addresses the

required steps to be taken should Ms. Luvaas wish to terminate the

contract out of convenience to either party, aside from " Termination for

Default" which does not apply in this situation. See id. 

In looking at the sentence displayed above, it is important to look

at the placement of the word " may." The word " may" is placed

11



immediately before the word " terminate." The word " may" is not placed

right before the portion of the sentence instructing Ms. Luvaas on what

steps need to be taken if she wishes to terminate the employment contract

for convenience. If it was placed immediately before the portion of the

sentence having to do with the 30 day notice then the condition could

possibly be interpreted as giving Ms. Luvaas the option to give the 30 day

notice, but this is not the case. With the placement of the word " may" 

right before the word " terminate," the sentence is read to the effect that

Ms. Luvaas has the option to terminate the employment contract out of

convenience but is not required to do so. If she does choose to exercise

her option to terminate the contract for convenience per the

aforementioned term and condition, then she would need to give 30 day

notice in writing. 

In this particular term and condition, the word " may" gives Ms. 

Luvaas the option to terminate for convenience or to let the contract

terminate by other means. If, for example, the word was " shall" instead of

may" this would make it mandatory that Ms. Luvaas terminate the

contract for convenience instead of any other way. This makes no sense

when reading the contract as a whole considering there is a date certain, 

June 30, 2012, for the contract to end as well as another clause that

addresses termination: " Termination for Default ". The word " may" 

12



applies to how Ms. Luvaas can terminate the contract. It does not apply to

the 30 day written notice requirement. 

When Ms. Luvaas decided to terminate her employment contract

with DSHS prior to the end date of June 30, 2012, she abided by the

applicable terms and conditions. As stated above, termination for

convenience required 30 day written notice. Ms. Luvaas submitted a

written note to DSHS on July 5, 2011. See Board Exhibit 3. This written

note operated to begin the tolling of the 30 days' notice. This is the first

time that Ms. Luvaas sent DSHS written notice that she wished to

terminate the contract. There is no evidence in the record to the contrary. 

See Board Transcript at 17, 60, 77, 82. Ms. Travis and Mr. Gilliand, who

both testified on behalf of Respondent, stated that they were not aware of

any written notice of termination sent by Ms. Luvaas to DSHS prior to the

written note of July 5, 2011. See id. at 60, 77, 82. The only evidence in

the record of any written submission by Ms. Luvaas to DSHS stating she

wished to terminate her contract is the July 5, 2011 note. See Board

Exhibit 3. Therefore, the 30 days, of which she was still considered an

employee of DSHS, should begin to run no later than July 5, 2011 which

would subsequently encompass the industrial injury date of July 29, 2011. 

In her written notice, Ms. Luvaas references the date of July 28, 

2011. See id. During her testimony, Ms. Luvaas shed light on the reason

13



this particular date was included with her notice of termination. See Board

Transcript at 43, 47. Ms. Luvaas testified that she listed the July 28, 2011

date because she took weekends off and it was the date right up against the

weekend before switching over to the month of August. See id. 

Admittedly, both of Respondent' s witnesses didn' t know the significance

of the July 28, 2011 date and didn' t inquire of Ms. Luvaas why she listed

that date in her written notice to terminate the employment contract. See

id. at 64, 84. 

Regardless, the fact that Ms. Luvaas listed July 28, 2011 in her

written notice to terminate the employment contract is irrelevant and of no

consequence to the interpretation of the objective manifestations of the

employment contract. On page three of the agreement, there is a term and

condition titled " Amendment." See Board Exhibit 2. This particular term

and condition addresses contract modification, and states: 

This Contract may only be modified by a written

amendment signed by both parties ... [ and] [ o] nly

personnel authorized to bind each of the parties may sign
an amendment. 

See id. This is the only place in the entire contract that addresses the

requirements to modify the employment contract. See id. In regards to

the contract between Ms. Luvaas and DSHS, the inclusion of the July 28, 

2011 date can only be considered an attempt to supposedly modify the

14



contract; an attempt that fails per the one and only applicable term and

condition that addresses how contract modification is to take place. 

Neither Ms. Luvaas nor DSHS entered into a written and signed

agreement to amend the standing employment contract between the two. 

See Board Transcript at 18, 81. There is absolutely no evidence in the

record to give credence to the idea that Ms. Luvaas and DSHS modified

the contract per the applicable term and condition stated above. 

Therefore, the supposed modification attempt fails and termination for

convenience still requires 30 day written notice which began to run on

July 5, 2011 at the earliest. 

Further, it cannot be argued that DSHS, by staying silent regarding

the July 28, 2011 date, waived a supposed " breach" of the contract by Ms. 

Luvaas. On page six of the agreement, there is a term and condition titled

Waiver." See Board Exhibit 2. This particular term and condition

addresses how DSHS is to waive any aspect of the employment contract, 

if they choose to do so, and states: 

Waiver of any breach or default on any occasion shall not
be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent breach or
default. Any waiver shall not be construed to be a
modification of the terms and conditions of the Contract. 

Only the DSHS Chief Administrative Officer or designee
has the authority to waive any term or condition of this
Contract on behalf of DSHS. 

15



See id. This is the only place in the entire contract that addresses how

DSHS is to waive certain terms and conditions, if they choose to do so, 

and how these waivers effect the employment contract going forward. See

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