COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KIMBERLY G. LUVAAS,

APPELLANT,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES,

RESPONDENT.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

James P. Mills Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 36978 Office No. 91040 1250 Pacific Avenue, Suite 105 Tacoma WA 98402 (253) 597-3896

I.	INTRODUCTION					
, II.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUE					
III.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE FACTS					
	A. Luvaas Was Injured the Day After She Quit Working as a Contract Care Giver for DSHS					
	B. The Board Affirmed the Department's Wage Rate Order Because the Plain Language of the Statute Did Not Allow the Department "to Calculate Monthly Wages Based on Employment One Day Before the Actual Date of Injury".					
	C. The Superior Court Affirmed the Board, Reasoning That Luvaas Did Not Show Wages to Replace From DSHS Because She Terminated Her Position There	6				
IV.	7. STANDARD OF REVIEW					
V.	ARGUMENT					
	A. The Wages From Luvaas's Prior Employment With DSHS Are Not Included in the Calculation of Her Time-loss Compensation Rate Because the Plain Language of RCW 51.08.178(1) Includes Wages From Only the Employment She Was Engaged in at the Time of the Injury	9				
	B. Luvaas Was No Longer Earning Wages From DSHS on July 29, 2011, When She Was Injured While Working Her Landscaping Job Because She Terminated Her Contract Effective July 28th and Provided No Services Thereafter	15				
VI.	CONCLUSION	24				

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Bennerstrom v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. 120 Wn. App. 853, 86 P.3d 826 (2004)
Berg v. Hudesman 115 Wn.2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990)20
Boguch v. Landover Corp. 153 Wn. App. 595, 224 P.3d 795 (2009)
Cerrillo v. Esparza 158 Wn.2d 194, 142 P.3d 155 (2006)10
Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Allen 100 Wn. App. 526, 997 P.2d 977 (2000)
Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Avundes 140 Wn.2d 282, 996 P.2d 593 (2000)12, 14
Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Shirley 171 Wn. App. 870, 288 P.3d 390 (2012)13
Double D Hop Ranch v. Sanchez 133 Wn.2d 793, 947 P.2d 727 (1997)14
Go2Net, Inc. v. CI Host, Inc. 115 Wn. App. 73, 60 P.3d 1245 (2003)
Harris v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. 120 Wn.2d 461, 843 P.2d 1056 (1993)10
Hearst Commc'ns v. Seattle Times Co. 154 Wn.2d 493, 115 P.3d 262 (2005)
Hill v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. 161 Wn. App. 286, 253 P.3d 430 (2011)8

No. 99 21831, 2001 WL 1328473 (Bd. Ind. Ins. Appeals August 13, 2001)
In re Gilberto Ramirez Nos. 13 10168 & 13 10562, 2014 WL 3055472 (Bd. Ind. Ins. Appeals June 27, 2014)
Kim v. Moffett 156 Wn. App. 689, 234 P.3d 279 (2010)
Kofmehl v. Baseline Lake, LLC 177 Wn.2d 584, 305 P.3d 230 (2013)
Matthews v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. 171 Wn. App. 477, 288 P.3d 630 (2012)
McClelland v. ITT Rayonier, Inc. 65 Wn. App. 386, 828 P.2d 1138 (1992)
Myers v. State 152 Wn. App. 823, 218 P.3d 241 (2009)
Raum v. City of Bellevue 171 Wn. App. 124, 286 P.3d 695 (2012)
Rogers v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. 151 Wn. App. 174, 210 P.3d 355 (2009)
Schweiter v. Halsey 57 Wn.2d 707, 359 P.2d 821 (1961)17
Scott Galvanizing, Inc. v. N.W. EnviroServices, Inc. 120 Wn.2d 573, 844 P.2d 428 (1993)20
Stanley v. University of Southern California 13 F.3d 1313 (9th Cir. 1994)18
State ex rel. Schoblom v. Anacortes Veneer, Inc. 42 Wn 2d 338, 255 P 2d 379 (1953)

Tingey v. Haisch 159 Wn.2d 652, 152 P.2d 1020 (2007)
Udall v. T.D. Escrow Servs., Inc. 159 Wn.2d 903, 154 P.3d 882 (2007)
<u>Statutes</u>
RCW 51.08.178(1)
RCW 51.08.178(2)
RCW 51.52.140
Other Authorities
Caroline K. Smith, <i>Temporary Workers in Washington</i> , American Journal of Industrial Medicine, February 2010
Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 367 (l) (1981)
H. B. Chermside, Jr., Annotation, Employer's Damages for Breach of Employment Contract by Employee's Terminating Employment, 61 A.L.R.2d 1008 (1958)
Regulations WAC 263-12-195
WAC 388-71-0556
Rules
CR 56(c)
CR 56(e)

I. INTRODUCTION

To calculate her time-loss calculation rate, Kimberly G. Luvaas seeks to have wages included in the rate from a job she did not have at the time of injury (in fact a job that she quit in writing). On July 29, 2011, Luvaas was injured while working as a landscaper—after she quit working as a contract care giver for the Department of Social & Health Services (DSHS). RCW 51.08.178(1) sets an injured worker's time-loss compensation rate taking into consideration the worker's wages being received from all employment at the time of injury. The plain language of RCW 51.08.178(1) does not allow the Department to look back at all the wages Luvaas earned in the month of July 2011 or "count a month back from July 29, 2011" as Luvaas requests. The Department properly calculated Luvaas's monthly wages based on the only job she had at the time of the injury, her landscaping job.

Her contract with DSHS provided a 30-day notice provision for DSHS's convenience. It is undisputed that Luvaas gave written notice that she would be unavailable after July 28, 2011, and that DSHS accepted her request by terminating her contract and replacing her. Nevertheless, so that she may include her past DSHS income in her wage calculation, Luvaas seeks to find herself in breach of this provision and apply specific performance to herself to find that she was still employed with DSHS on

July 29, 2011. Luvaas cannot rewrite history through contract interpretation to benefit from her own breach. Because Luvaas was only receiving wages from her landscaping job when she was injured, the Department correctly calculated her time-loss compensation rate based solely on her only job at the time of injury.

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

RCW 51.08.178(1) provides that the monthly time-loss compensation rate is established based on the wages the worker was receiving from all employment at the time of injury. Did the trial court properly determine as a matter of law that Luvaas was not working for DSHS on July 29, 2011, when she stopped working on July 28th, when DSHS accepted her resignation and replaced her, and when she was paid only for work she performed through July 28th?

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Luvaas Was Injured the Day After She Quit Working as a Contract Care Giver for DSHS

On Friday July 29, 2011, Luvaas was injured while working at her landscaping job at Out on a Limb Landscape Services Inc. BR Luvaas 8-11. She filed a workers' compensation claim, which the Department accepted. In order to determine her wage rate for workers' compensation purposes, the Department needed to determine what employment she had at "the time of injury". RCW 51.08.178(1). It included her wages from

¹ The certified appeal board record will be cited as "BR". Testimony within the certified appeal board record will be cited "BR" followed by the witness's last name and page number.

the landscaping job, but Luvaas sought to have wages from a prior job included even though she was not working there at the time of injury. *See* BR Luvaas 8-9.

The day before her injury was Luvaas's last day at her other position working as a care provider under contract with DSHS. BR Ex. 3; BR Luvaas 42. Luvaas had entered into an agreement to provide care services from July 1, 2009 through June 30, 2012 as an independent contractor. BR Ex. 2 at 1; BR Gilliand 70.

In June 2011, Luvaas originally gave notice to terminate the contract, but DSHS did not initially find a replacement, so DSHS and Luvaas "verbally agreed that [she] would stay on another month, [to] give [DSHS] time to find somebody." BR Luvaas 42.

Then on July 5, 2011, Luvaas wrote a letter to DSHS stating:

July 28th will be my last day as caregiver for [the client]. Until then I shall be available to help new care giver in any way I can.

BR Ex. 3.

Luvaas did not give the full 30 days written notice under the contract. BR Ex. 3. The contract provided that "the contractor may terminate this contract for convenience by giving DSHS at least 30 calendar days written notice her terminate the contract with 30 days notice." BR Ex. 2 (Section 25). The contract, however, required the contractor, here Luvaas,

to cease all services under the contract "as of the effective date of termination or expiration." BR Ex. 2 (Section 27.a). DSHS is not required to pay for any work performed by the contractor after the effective date of the termination. BR Ex. 2 (Section 27.d). However, there were no consequences for ending a contract early. BR Gilliand 72. Indeed, DSHS accepted Luvaas's termination. BR Gilliand 72-76.

DSHS terminated the authorization for Luvaas to work for DSHS effective July 28, 2011, and DSHS specified that Luvaas had completed the contract. BR Gilliand 74-75. Accordingly, she could not bill for any days beyond July 28th. BR Gilliand 75. She was approved to work 178 hours per month and had reached 178 hours by July 28, 2011. BR Luvaas 35. She continued to provide services for the patient until Thursday, July 28, 2011. BR Luvaas 40-42.

Luvaas could not submit her time until July 31st because DSHS does not accept hours for payment under these contracts until the end of the month. BR Luvaas 36. Following July 28th, she did not care for anyone else as a DSHS caregiver. BR Luvaas 36. On July 29, 2011, DSHS had placed a new care provider with her former client and it is undisputed that Luvaas did not provide any further services on the date of injury. *See* BR Gillard 73, 85; BR Luvaas 42-43.

After accepting her claim for the injury at the landscaping job, the Department issued a wage rate order based on her reported employment as of the date of injury. BR Travis 52. The May 4, 2012 order calculated Ms. Luvaas's gross wages on the date of injury as \$447.17 per month, at the single, with zero children. BR 11, 22. This rate only included her employment at the time of injury at her landscaping job. *See* BR 22; BR Travis 52. Luvaas protested the Department order and the Department affirmed the order. BR Travis 52-53. Luvaas appealed the order to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. BR 30..

B. The Board Affirmed the Department's Wage Rate Order Because the Plain Language of the Statute Did Not Allow the Department "to Calculate Monthly Wages Based on Employment One Day Before the Actual Date of Injury"

Following hearings at the Board, the industrial appeals judge issued a proposed decision affirming the Department order. BR 11-20. The industrial appeals judge concluded that "she was no longer employed with DSHS as an independently contracted caregiver, having voluntarily quit." BR 15. The industrial appeals judge reasoned that the plain language of RCW 51.08.178(1) does not allow "the Department to calculate monthly wages based on employment one day *before* the actual date of injury." BR 15 (emphasis in original).

The judge also reasoned that time-loss compensation benefits are meant as a monetary buffer to lessen the economic impact of lost wages or income because of injuries. BR 16. But "Ms. Luvaas, by her own admission, voluntarily removed herself from DSHS' employment after July 28, 2011. Thus, she lacked the requisite adverse economic impact, i.e. lost wages or income, to warrant the award of time-loss benefits for this particular job." BR 16; Findings of Fact 3, 4; Conclusion of Law 20. Luvaas filed a petition for review to the full Board. BR 2-6. The Board denied review and adopted the proposed decision and order. BR 1.

C. The Superior Court Affirmed the Board, Reasoning That Luvaas Did Not Show Wages to Replace From DSHS Because She Terminated Her Position There

Luvaas appealed to Clallam County Superior Court, where the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. CP 20-45. Luvaas argued that she was an employee of both her landscaping job and DSHS on July 29th because she was legally bound to the contract through the end of July by the 30-day termination clause. CP 40. The Department argued that the undisputed facts showed that she had terminated her employment with DSHS because Luvaas had provided written notice that July 28th would be her last day, she had worked all the hours that could be allotted to her for July, and DSHS had replaced her with another caregiver. CP 29-32. The superior court granted summary judgment to the Department affirm-

ing the Board order. CP 12-17. In its memorandum opinion, the superior court reasoned that Luvaas had "no lost wages or income from DSHS to replace" there is no purpose in basing the wage rate on income from DSHS:

Since the plaintiff terminated her employment with DSHS on July 28, 2011, and had reached the maximum number of allotted hours for that month at that time, she had no wages or income from DSHS to replace after July 28, 2011. Since there were no lost wages or income from DSHS to replace after July 28, 2011, there would be no purpose to awarding time-loss compensation based upon wages or income from DSHS during this time frame.

CP 10. The superior court concluded that the 30-day termination provision is in place to allow DSHS a reasonable period of time in which to find someone else to perform the tasks formerly performed by the plaintiff. CP 9. Accordingly, the superior court rejected her contention that the "termination for convenience clause" required "a binding 30 days of employment following notice regardless of any agreement or circumstances to the contrary." CP 10.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Review is governed by RCW 51.52.140, which provides that an appeal shall lie from the judgment of the superior court as in other civil cases, and that ordinary practice in civil cases shall apply. *McClelland v. ITT Rayonier, Inc.*, 65 Wn. App. 386, 390, 828 P.2d 1138 (1992). In an

industrial insurance case, it is the decision of the trial court that the appellate court reviews, not the Board decision. *See Rogers v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 151 Wn. App. 174, 179-81, 210 P.3d 355 (2009). On review of a summary judgment order, the appellate court's inquiry is the same as the superior court's. *Bennerstrom v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 120 Wn. App. 853, 858, 86 P.3d 826 (2004).

Summary judgment is appropriate "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c). Speculation and conclusory allegations are insufficient to avoid a summary judgment. *Boguch v. Landover Corp.*, 153 Wn. App. 595, 610, 224 P.3d 795 (2009); CR 56(e).

Here, both parties agree that there are no material facts in dispute and the dispositive issues are ones of law, which this Court reviews de novo. *Hill v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 161 Wn. App. 286, 298, 253 P.3d 430 (2011); App. Br. 5. Although this Court may substitute its judgment for that of the Department, great weight is accorded to the agency's view of the law it administers. *Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Allen*, 100 Wn. App. 526, 530, 997 P.2d 977 (2000).

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Wages From Luvaas's Prior Employment With DSHS Are Not Included in the Calculation of Her Time-loss Compensation Rate Because the Plain Language of RCW 51.08.178(1) Includes Wages From Only the Employment She Was Engaged in at the Time of the Injury

Luvaas is not entitled to a wage rate that includes her prior contract work with DSHS because she quit working for DSHS effective the day before she was injured at her landscaping job. Here, Ms. Luvaas's wages were calculated under RCW 51.08.178(1), which provides in pertinent part:

For the purposes of this title, the monthly wages the worker was receiving from all employment at the time of the injury shall be the basis upon which compensation is computed unless otherwise provide specifically in the statute concerned. In cases where the worker's wages are not fixed by the month, they shall be determined by multiplying the daily wage the worker was receiving at the time of the injury:

- (a) By five, if the worker was normally employed one day a week;
- (b) By nine, if the worker was normally employed two days a week;
- (c) By thirteen, if the worker was normally employed three days a week;
- (d) By eighteen, if the worker was normally employed four days a week;
- (e) By twenty-two, if the worker was normally employed five days a week;
- (f) By twenty-six, if the worker was normally employed six days a week;
- (g) By thirty, if the worker was normally employed seven days a week.

(Emphasis added.)

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